


 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

 
 
Members Present  
Isaac Holt  
Debra Hyder  
Michael Owens  
Ray Cobb 
 
Alternate Members Present  
Tom King  
Henry Chandler  

Members Absent  
Michael Wilson  

Staff Present  
Matthew Hoagland, Planning 
Director  
Ian Shannon, Planner II  
Janet Moreno, Planning 
Technician  
Rik Stevens, County Attorney  

 
 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER  

 
The meeting was called to order at 5:37 PM. 

Chairman Mr. Holt asks everyone to turn all phones down and go into prayer.  

Mr. Holt then introduced himself as chair and the Board of Adjustment. He gives a summary 
that the board is a newly created board and the members were appointed by the Board of 
Commissioners. He also states that the board is a quasi-judicial board and is regulated by North 
Carolina general statutes. Mr. Holt stated that they look at and make their decisions based on 
four questions and the facts. Everyone who is trying to speak to the board must have standing to 
participate in the case. Meaning that not just anyone from the audience can come up and speak 
and give their personal opinion. Mr. Holt explains that they are like an appeal court. He also 

ike the way 
he ruled on it then they can appeal it to the entire board. Everyone is required to take an oath to 
speak including county staff. If this board decision does not favor you, you can appeal and the 
only appeal from the board is to go into the court system state of North Carolina which would be 
the Superior Court. The chairman states that he trusts the members of the board are fair and has 
known most of them for a few years. 

Chairman Holt explained they are not allowed by law to discuss the case beforehand, but the 
board was sent a packet of information the board by the county staff, which included for example 



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

a copy of their application. Before the case hearing begins the board will move on to old 
business. 

 
II. OLD BUSINESS 

1. Approval of March 7, 2024 Meeting Minutes 

Motion to approve the March 7th meeting minutes: Ray Cob 
Second: Michael Owens  
Vote: Unanimous 

2. Amended Rules of Procedure  

Mr. Holt states that it looks like the discussions had from the March 7th meeting have 
been taken to note in the minutes and everything talked about was covered. He asked if 
anyone has any comments or sees anything that needs to be corrected about the Rules of 
Procedure. Michael Owens made a motion to approve. Mr. Holt stated that the rules can 
be amended in the future if needed.  

Motion to approve the Alamance County Board of Adjustment Rules of Procedure: 
Michael Owens 
Second: Ray Cobb  
Vote: Unanimous 

3. Adoption of 2024 Meeting Calendar  
 
Mr. Holt summarized the proposed calendar for the board, which is the 3rd Thursday at 
5:30 in the same room, each month unless no meeting is necessary. He noted that the 
calendar can also be changed later if necessary. 

Motion to approve the Board of Adjustment Calendar: Ray Cobb 
Second: Michael Owens 
Vote: Unanimous 
 

 



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

III. NEW BUSINESS 
1. Rodriguez Variance Hearing (Case No. 2024-001)  

Mrs. Rodriguez excused herself and requested to switch spots with her husband Mr. 
Rodriguez who is now present. The chairman explains that after he submits the oath if she 
wishes to speak then she would have to take the oath as well. 

Mr. Hoagland asked Mr. Holt to sign the rules of procedure since they had a few moments 
while they waited on the Rodriguez family. 

The meeting proceeds and Mr. Rodriguez takes a seat. 

Chairman Holt stated that Mr. Wilson is absent tonight but the Board does have alternates 
available. Mr. Holt calls up Alternate #1 Richard Tom King to serve in place of Mr. Wilson 
tonight. Mr. Holt states that it is set out in the guidelines of the rules of procedure and that is 
how he was selected. Mr. Holt makes it known that Tom was sworn in at an earlier date with 
the rest of the board members with the exception of Ray Cobb. The Chairman states that Ray 
Cobb has been previously sworn in at an earlier date and Mr. Hoagland confirms that he has 
been sworn in. 

Chairman Holt goes on to read out case number 2024-001, the applicants are Pedro and 
Kristie Rodriguez at 4191 L Lawrence Trail, Graham, N.C. 27253 in the Newlin township. 

Chairman Holt states that Mr. Rodriguez might have missed a few important things about 
how the board works. He starts by explaining that the board is a quasi-judicial board and that 
they are sort of like the jury and judge all in one. The board will hear two sides, the county 
will be able to present its side of the situation then the applicants will also have an 
opportunity to present their side. Four questions must be answered to the board and must be 
proven by the applicant for the board to base their decision. Mr. Holt states that the board is 
heavily regulated and they are not allowed to do as they would like. All of their 
determinations have to be based on finding facts and not hearsay; that it must be strictly 
based on facts. Mr. Holt asks other members if he needs to mention anything else. No one 
does.  

Chairman Holt goes on to ask if there is anyone in the audience who might feel they have 
possible standing to speak before the board tonight. Two people out of the audience raised 
their hands.  

Mr. Holt asked for one of them to come up front so that he may ask a few questions to see if 
they might have to standing in order to speak before the board tonight. 

Mr. Eddie Vaughn stands before the board and states that he lives at 4173 L Lawrence Trail 
Graham, N.C. 27253 and that he  on the west side and is he is a neighbor of the Rodriguez 
family. 



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

Chairman Holt once again states that should he decide that Mr. Vaughn does not have 
standing then Mr. Vaughn can appeal that decision to the entire board. Mr. Holt then asks 
Mr. Vaughn his basis for coming tonight.  

Mr. Vaughn stated that the pastures that go around the houses of the property that Pedro and 
his family own have always been neighbors and he has them leased for the keeping of cows. 
Mr. Vaughn is concerned that it was once a very open community when they moved out 
there. Mr. Holt interrupts Mr. Vaughn to let him know what he needs to be factual about 
what he thinks the outcome of this case would mean to him. Mr. Holt gives Mr. Vaughn 
some examples; whether he thinks it might be a monetary problem, a traffic problem on the 
road, or whatever might be factual. His opinions will simply not work and they need to know 
specifically what his complaint is. Mr. Vaughn states that he thinks it would be a possible 
loss of property value.  

Mr. Holt asked Mr. Vaughn if he had any means or evidence to support his reasoning. Mr. 
Vaughn stated the paperwork he received and read said that they lived in a housing 
development. Mr. Holt asked if he had any background paperwork to show the board to back 
up his claim. Mr. Vaughn said he does not have the paper but that it was given to the four 
adjacent landowners and that it did come from the county.  

Mr. Vaughn asked the second person in the audience if they had the letter that was sent out. 

for a subdivision variance and they do not live in a subdivision. 

Mr. Holt states that the letter has no connection to the value of the properties. The chairman 
finds the neighbor does not have standing to present arguments in the case. The reason being 

factual backup to his claim. Mr. Holt expresses that he is sympathetic to 
his argument but that they need documentation to back up what he is saying, for example, if 
Mr. Vaughn might have hired an appraiser or a realtor to tell you that it would devalue their 
properties then the chairman may find that they had standing. 

Mr. King asked the chairman if there was any way to see where Mr. Vaughn's property is in 
relation to the Rodriguez property. Mr. Owens stated that he just pulled it up and believes 
that he does have standing. Mr. King asked if they could pull it up on GIS to see. 

Mr. Hoagland said they can but it might take them a moment to pull up the GIS map. He asks 
Mr. Vaughn for his address and Mr. Vaughn shares his address again. 

Planning Department staff pulls up GIS and Mr. Hoagland states that 4191 is the subject 
property and is to the right with 4173 to the left on the screen. 

Mr. King asks Mr. Vaughn about the leased pasture land. Mr. Vaughn states that it goes all 

house as you come in the street. 



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

Mr. Holt asked Mr. King if that answered his question. Mr. King said yes it did. 

Mr. Holt said he would be glad to hear from the second person in the audience. A lady from 
the audience said she would rather sit as she speaks and that she lives next door to the 

 between them. Mr. 
Holt asks if she can speak up. She states again that she and Mr. Rodriguez have 

on her side of the property only and has markers every two to three feet. She states this is 
preventing her from functioning and doing what she needs to do, she has lived out there for 
almost 30 years. She moved out there for the privacy in that space. She states she is scared 
that it is going to turn into a development. 

Mr. King asks the lady speaking for her name. She states her name is Barbara Huneycutt and 
that she 10 acres. 

Mr. Shannon points out the two parcels that Barbara Huneycutt owns on the GIS map for 
everyone to see. 

Mrs. Huneycutt states that she also owns the road coming in. The chair asks if she has the 
right way off Highway 87, and Mrs. Huneycutt states that she does. 

Mr. Owens said 
way he sees it; the right of way to her property all the way in. 

Mr. Holt determines that Mrs. Huneycutt  testimony will not be relevant tonight, and that if 
she would like to appeal to the whole board that is fine. Mr. Holt explains everyone has 
property owners next to them and just because Mrs. Huneycutt and Mr. Rodriguez have 
communication problems it is certainly not a factor the board can take into consideration. 

Mrs. Huneycutt states that if you want to be a good neighbor you try to be a good neighbor.  
Mr. Holt agrees with Mrs. Huneycutt but said that from their standpoint it will not be 
something they will be able to consider. Mr. Holt brings up that earlier in the meeting he 
talked about how the board is regulated heavily.  

Mrs. Huneycutt mentions that she is afraid to leave her house because of hostility. Mr. Holt 
convey to Mrs. Huneycutt but his ruling is that he will not be 
able to consider it for tonight. 

Mr. Holt moves on to the people involved and asks Mrs. Rodriguez if she would like to come 
back into the room for the oaths if she does wish to speak tonight. 

Mr. Holt states that for the record if people who are going to be sworn in today can please 
state their names. Mr. Hoagland gives his name and notes that he is the planning director for 
Alamance County. Ian Shannon gives his name and sates his title is Planner II for Alamance 



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

County. Kerstie Rodriguez and Pedro Rodriguez introduce themselves both as the applicants 
and owners of the property in question. 

Mr. Holt then asked everyone presenting testimony to stand and raise their right hands. Mr. 
Holt performs the oath and Mr. Hoagland, Mr. Shannon, and Mr. and Mrs. Rodriguez are 
now sworn.  

Mr. Holt begins to introduce the rest of the members on the Board of Adjustment, first, he 
begins with himself stating that he is the chairman of the board. Going alphabetically Ray 
Cobb Debra Hyder, Michael Owens, and Richard Tom King all introduce themselves as well. 

Mr. Holt goes on to poll each member individually to ask if anyone might have any conflict 
of interest. Every board member confirms they have no conflict of interest. 

Mr. Holt asked the board members if anyone had anything to disclose to the board as to 
doing a site visit or anything else. He then discloses that he has looked online on GIS looking 
at the lot and how it is in proximity to neighbors. Mr. Owens discloses that he drove by the 
property. Mr. Holt states that is good and could be helpful to the board. Mr. King notes he 
has also looked at GIS to look at the pattern of the development along the private road. Mr. 
Cobb mentions that he has not looked at the GIS but he has done a job and built a cabin at the 
end of L. Lawrence Trail. He helped do this job maybe two years ago so he has been up and 
down L. Lawrence but not to this specific piece of property. 

Mr. 
particular subdivision. Mr. King asks the chair if they have opened the hearing yet or if he 
had missed it. Mr. Holt states that it has been opened. 

 Mr. Hoagland then presents the following:   

Pedro and Kerstie Rodriguez are requesting a variance from the provisions of Section 

areas, lot depths, and lot widths, land within any street right-of-way or railroad right-of-way 

a private road be at least one (1) acre in size.   

Mr. and Mrs. Rodriguez own the 2.04-acre lot at 4191 L. Lawrence Trail, Graham in the 
Newlin Township. L. Lawrence trail is a private road.  

Mr. and Mrs. Rodriguez are seeking to divide their existing 2.04-acre lot into Lot 1, which 
would total 1.03 acres with .25 acres within the right of way and Lot 2, which would total 
1.01 acres with .12 acres in the right of way. Respectively, this would result in an area 
outside the right of way for Lot 1 of .78 acres and for Lot 2 of .89 acres. Neither of these lot 
sizes would comply with one-acre minimum lot size requirement of Section 6.9.4.E.i. Given 



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

that the resultant lots would total less than the required one acre outside the right of way, the 
Planning Department cannot administratively approve such a division of property.  

Planning Department staff emailed the surveying company working with Mr. Rodriguez on 
February 7, 2024 letting them know that we cannot approve this subdivision as it is laid out, 
based on the substandard size of the lots. On February 8, 2024 we informed him of the option 
to apply for a variance. Mr. and Mrs. Rodriguez then submitted the variance application on 
February 15th.  

Mr. Hoagland then reads out the standards for granting a variance which are found in section 
2.3.1A of the U.D.O. He then asked the board members to evaluate the variance request on 
each of the individual criteria and decide on each for the public record. He then reiterates that 
Sections 2.3.3.1 and state law require that a fourth-fifth (4/5) vote is necessary to grant a 
variance.  

Mr. Hoagland tells the chairman that he would like to enter all documents related to the 
variance case into the public record unless there is an objection.  

Chairman Holt then objects and states that he thinks they need to discuss some of the emails 
that were sent out to them. Mr. Holt tells Mr. Hoagland they can take it up after he finishes 
his presentation. 

Mr. Hoagland then concludes by stating that a hearing notice sign was placed at the property 
and letters notifying adjoining property owners were mailed in a timely manner to satisfy 
statutory requirements. He also notes that an altered version of the email thread involving 
Mr. Rodriguez, Planning Department staff, and professional surveying firms were sent to all 
parties with standing in the case on Monday, March 18th. Mr. Hoagland then concludes by 
letting the chairman know that he will answer any questions that they might have before 
proceeding with the hearing. 

Mr. Holt said 
will open it up for questions. Mr. Holt calls upon Mr. and Mrs. Rodriguez. Before the 
Rodriguez speaks Mr. Holt stated would like to reemphasize the criteria for granting a 
variance because he believes he did not read it and that the board is hard to read as well.  

Mr. Hoagland told the chairman that there are copies on the desks and that each board 
member should have a copy as well of the information that is shown on the board. Matthew 
Hoagland points out that the packet of information handed out includes 160D-705D which is 
the criteria for granting a variance, the documents also include criteria for standing and the 
specific sections of the U.D.O.  

Mr. Holt calls on Mr. Rodriguez to present his case. Mr. Rodriguez asked what they would 
like for him to explain if they want him to explain the situation or what he is planning on 
doing. Mr. Holt tells Mr. Rodriguez that what he said before them tonight needs to be factual 



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

and he needs to address each one of the four hurdles, for lack of better terms. Mr. Holt 
explains that, in order to grant them the variance, they will hear some debate among the 
board because there are some issues, and Mr. Rodriguez will need to address the criteria in a 
factual way. 

Mr. Rodriguez states that from what he has read he believes they check off every mark with 
the unnecessary hardship, for example from the lot sizes. Pedro Rodriguez explains that the 
bank will not finance two homes on one lot, it has to be separate lots. Mr. Holt asked Mr. 
Rodriguez if he has any documentation to back that up. Mr. Rodriguez states that he does not 
but he has spoken with multiple finance companies and they will not finance the house. Mr. 
Holt tells Mr. Rodriguez that it is important to remember that when he is presenting his case 
it has to be factual, he tells Mr. Rodriguez that he is not disputing his word.  

Mr. Rodriguez states he should have brought the paper but that no bank will finance a home 
that is already on a lot with a lean on it. The home already on the property has a lean so they 
won't finance it. They need to have two separate lots in order to finance the mobile home.  

Mr. Rodriguez said when he was reading the second criteria said the hardship results from 
the location, size of the lot. On the third criteria, Mr. Rodriguez reads aloud that none of 
these hardships result from the actions taken by the applicant or property owner. He then 
reads the fourth criteria, and said that their proposal will not cause anyone any harm, or any 
of the lots or anything else. Mr. Rodriguez states from reading each criterion he believes they 
check out every single part of the section. 

Mr. Holt asked Mr. Rodriguez if that was all he had to present to the board. Mr. Rodriguez 
states that it was and that he was not 100% sure how this worked and that it was their first 
time doing this. Mr. Holt states that he understands and as he explained earlier tonight most 

-judicial meeting is all about, and they are regulated by 
the law where they have to have findings of fact to make their determinations. 

Mr. Rodriguez states that they spoke to the Planning Department about a year ago and was 
told that it was possible to get done until the last time they brought out a second surveyor to 
the property. He mentioned that at first, they were allowed to and then whoever was in 
charge of the Planning Department at that time did not have all the proper information when 
he emailed them. Mr. Rodriguez asked if the board had seen the emails which were included 
in the packet of information and Mr. Holt confirms that they have. Mr. Rodriguez states that 
is all the information he has. 

Mr. Holt then said he would like to address the findings of fact for the record. He said to Mr. 
Shannon that his name is mentioned a lot in the emails from 2022. Mr. Holt said he will now 
open it up for one question for each one of the board members to start out. Mr. Holt said he is 
glad Mr. Rodriguez mentioned the emails which have now opened the door to address what 
happened in 2022. Mr. Holt said he may have some reservations  



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

Mr. Hoagland interrupts and said he may defer to the county attorney on the matter but if the 
chair does not believe that the email thread should be part of the record of evidence then he 
believes legally it would be best to make a motion to dispense that being part of the record 
rather than debate any of the specifics of it.  

Mr. Holt said he does not really want to dispense with it, he wants to get on record that Ian is 
willing to testify that the emails that have his name on them are in fact emails that he 
participated in. Mr. Shannon stated that he did. 

Mr. Holt entertains a motion that the board accepts the evidence packet that the county sent 
out. Mr. King mentioned that he believes it has already been entered into the record. Mr. 
Hoagland states that unless there is an objection it is automatically entered in. 

Mr. Holt said he will go alphabetically and ask each member to ask one question and after 
everyone has an opportunity to ask one the chair will open it up for open discussion for 
questions. 

Mr. Holt called on Ray Cobb. Mr. Cobb stated that he had no questions. Mrs. Hyder was also 
called on but stated she had no questions. 

Mr. King asked if the applicants had applied to subdivide the property yet or if it was a 
precursor reading review on whether it was going to work out or not. 

Mr. Shannon said he can answer the questions and give some context to the board on their 
review process. He stated that the majority of the time a surveyor will email the Planning 
Department a sketch plan to see if something is feasible and then later on they will send over 
a preliminary plat. The Planning Department had received an actual plat, so they accepted 
that as an application to subdivide.  

Mr. King asked if the mylar had been submitted. Mr. Shannon replied that the mylar had not 
but a digital plat had been sent. Mr. Hoagland mentioned it was a preliminary plat that was 
emailed to the staff. 

Mr. Owens asked Mr. Rodriguez why he was seeking financing. Mr. Rodriguez states that he 
can't pay for the house in cash. Mr. Owens then asked a second question. He asked Mr. 
Rodriguez if he lives in the house that currently sits on the property. Mr. Rodriguez said that 
he does and that he inherited the house after his father passed away last year, but he said they 
have owned for over 24 years. Michael Owens asked if he is trying to get the home 
refinanced. Mr. Rodriguez mentions he is trying to put another home on the lot but they will 
not finance it to him if there is already a home with a lean on the lot. 

Chairman Hold then opened the floor for all questions and asked for Ian to go to May of the 
year 2022. He pointed out that in the emails county staff informed Boswell surveying that the 



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

subdivisions.  

Mr. Shannon stated that as far as he could tell in the email chain, he did not recall any 
specific discussion with Tonya Caddle the former planning director at the time or Taylor 
Perschau who was the Planner II at the time reviewing it. He remembers that he had initially 
looked at the Boswell submission but said he could not recall if it was some time before they 
were looking at another potential subdivision along L. Lawrence Trail and they were looking 
at it as a potential non-conforming private road. Mr. Shannon said he then sent an email out 
to Boswell letting them know that they were looking at that private road issue at the time. He 
concluded that was the most of his involvement. 

Mr. Holt asked if he read the emails properly the planning director and senior planner at the 
time did in fact say that the lots could be subdivided and that the acreage be included in lot 
size.  

Mr. Shannon 
Tonya had told Janet with Boswell Surveyors that each lot would need to be a full acre since 
it is on a private road. Then later on the email chain, there are two instances of Taylor saying 
that the acreage within the right of way would be able to count towards that. 

Mr. Holt that he understands that Tonya is no longer working for the county to ask her, but 
he would lMr. to ask again if the county staff did tell Boswell Surveyors, that it would be 
okay to subdivide the lots and include the right of way in 2022. Mr. Shannon confirms that is 
correct.  

Mr. Holt asked Mr. Hoagland if there have been any changes to the subdivision law as to the 
resubdivision of property, that was maybe sold as a subdivision with a fixed amount of lots 
initially. Mr. Hoagland responded that he  believe there have been any UDO 
amendments to these provisions since 2022. 

Mr. Holt asks if they know how many lots were in the subdivision initially since it was a 
private road subdivision. Mr. Holt stated the he is asking since he knows there are some 
restrictions. Mr. Hoagland asked Mr. Hot if when he said initially did he mean at the time the 
lot was created. Mr. Holt said he was asking about when the subdivision was created. Mr. 
Hoagland said he does not believe that they have looked at that specifically and said that the 
plat that created the lot was initially from the mid-1990s and included four lots. Mr. Holt said 
that he believes that it was 1995. Mr. Hoagland explained that at the time the current private 
road was existing then as well and that today, from staff examination, there are 13 applicable 
lots along the private road because there are several lots that are greater than 10 acres and 
they are exempt from certain aspects of the subdivision regulation. So, with regard to 
applicable sub-10 acre lots there are currently 13 by staff calculations, Mr. Hoagland said.  



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

Mr. Holt said that if the 10-plus acres are included the amount of traffic and number of 
parcels on the road is upward of 20 parcels and expressed concerns about the safety involved 
on private roads with EMTs and other things. 

Mr. Shannon added that when he was talking about the non-conforming private road issue 
when they were looking at another subdivision around that time the property on the 
northwest David Allen Holt was the name on the plat that had to come through and the 
developer did have to make some road improvements up to the last lot they were subdividing. 
Mr. Shannon concluded that, from what he can recall it was where the cul-de-sac is and it 
would be considered a Class 2 private road for the county standards. 

Mr. Holt asked Mr. Rodriguez if there is some kind of mechanism for the upkeep of L. 
Lawrence Trail; in other words, asking does everybody contributes to a fund or anything to 
maintain the road. Mr. Rodriguez stated that there is not one that he knows of.  

Mr. Holt stated that he believes that he has looked at the GIS there was indeed a road 
maintenance agreement reached at some point in time.  

Mr. Owens asked Mr. Rodriguez when he purchased the property. Mr. Rodriguez stated that 
it was in 2023. Mr. Holt asked Mr. Rodriguez if he inherited the property and Mr. Rodriguez 
said he did. Mr. Owens asked when was the deed in his name, and Mr. Rodriguez answered 
in March 2023. Mr. Owens also asked if Mr. Rodriguez had an attorney who did it for him, 
and Mr. Rodriguez said that he did. Mr. Owens stated that the attorney should have disclosed 
to Mr. Rodriguez that, being part of that subdivision there, the property could not be further 
subdivided. 

Mr. Rodriguez asked if Mr. Owens could repeat what he said. Mr. Owens said that it should 
have been disclosed to Mr. Rodriguez that the lot could not ever be subdivided again. 

Mr. Rodriguez asked where would that information be and Mr. Owens stated that through the 
deed restrictions on the property future subdivisions of lots are prohibited. Mr. Rodriguez 
asked on which one if it is on the deed. Mr. Owens said that it should be on the deed and on 
the deeds to all the lots that started off in 1995. 

Mr. King Asked Mr. Owens if he could tell for the record where he is pulling the information 
from. Mr. Hoagland stated that he can read that clause of the ordinance for the board. Mr. 
Hoagland read from UDO Section 6.9.4 E: rivate roads may be allowed in any 
development in which a tract of land is divided into no more than 14 parcels along the 
private road and each parcel should not be less than one acre in size provided the following 
conditions are met, condition A reads that through deed restrictions future resubdivision of 
lots into smaller tracts is prohibited.  

Mr. Hoagland asked Mr. Owens if that is what he was referring to, and Mr. Owens confirmed 
that it was. 



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

Mr. Owens said that basically they have to prove a hardship and so far, 
that. He said he feels like the two people in the audience do have a standing not based on his 
opinion but based on the rights statute 160D-1402 by easement or a covenant  Mr. Owens 
stated that since all the properties in the subdivision have the road going through their 
property, and everybody is affected. He also said by the covenant on the 
deeds and he felt as though the two people do have a standing. He said that is his opinion and 
he does not know if he wants to let everyone else discuss it or not.  

Mr. Holt called upon the County Attorney Rick Stevens. He stated that he ruled upon this 
issue earlier. Mr. Stevens recalled that there was no objection to the ruling earlier but, with 
that being said, 
claim. Mr. Stevens said 
decide to ask questions to persons who have not yet been sworn in, but they would need to be 
sworn in and be willing to participate in the hearing.  

Mr. Stevens asked the chairman if what he said made sense. Mr. Holt said yes and no. He 
clarified that what he is referring to is his ruling earlier. Mr. Stevens said that Mr. Holt ruled 
and there was no rejection to the ruling. Mr. Holt stated that it was right. Mr. Owens 
interjected and said that he did not know that they could speak and object to the chair. Mr. 
Holt said the board can always object. 

Mr. King said the idea is that if someone can provide factual information to help the board in 
understanding the road maintenance and other issues. Mr. Holt stated that was the problem; 
he did not hear anything factual, that was the reason he ruled against their claim of standing.  

Mr. Owens said they did not get to ask any questions about standing, he was concerned about 
that issue if it was to go further. Mr. Stevens stated that, leaving the standing issue aside, he 
thinks if the board wanted to hear from witnesses who might be present in the gallery, then 
the board could choose to do that and they could ask the person if they would want to 
participate or give testimony. If so, that person would have to be sworn in before they could 
give testimony. 

Mr. Holt said that is still not answering his question, he stated he does not know the process 
of reversing his decision from earlier. Mr. Stevens stated that he does not think he can 
reverse it at this stage, what he is saying is that they can still participate but there is a 
different way that would be.  

Mr. Owens said that they were just discussing and not necessarily saying that they have to do 
it. 

Mr. King adds that the two people in the audience would be participating more as witnesses 
than a party to the case. Mr. Stevens stated that is correct. 



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

Mr. Hoagland said that he believes that the quasi-judicial procedures do allow for that. Mr. 
Holt said that they do but they also have to be sworn in. Mr. Hoagland said that is correct. 

Mr. Holt said he thinks they need to take a vote on the situation to further allow them to open 
it back up.  

Mr. King states that they need to be clear on what subject they are discussing is the private 
road. Mr. holt said nothing but the private road. 

Mr. Holt stated he is glad to entertain a motion to let them address the board for the purpose 
of addressing the private road issue. Mr. Owens said since he brought this subject up and he 
made a motion. Mr. Cobb seconded the motion. 

Mr. Holt said there's a motion and a second that the board allows a neighbor to testify for the 
board as a witness. Mr. Holt asked if there is any discussion before voting on the matter. 

The motion was approved unanimously.  

Mr. Holt called upon Mr. Vaughn and said he is now able to address to the board about the 
road issue. Mr. Vaughn asked if he needed to be sworn in. Mr. Holt swore in Edgar Duke 
Vaughn III he also goes by Eddie. Mr. Vaughn is now sworn in.  

Mr. Vaughn said that when referring to the road and he does not know if its old water to 
speak on the road he thinks he can still provide not at this moment but where they tried to get 
everyone on the road and got prices on the road for the upkeep because the road is so bad 
right now. No one but Mrs. Honeycutt wanted to help, he did not receive an email back from 
her but she verbally said yes. Mr. Vaugh also said that the pipe that exists under the road 
presently there if you ride down and look at the right-hand side there is erosion there, and 
there are two inches of water coming this weekend the water is hydraulically under the 30-
inch pipe it is going under the curve. Mr. Vaughn also states that they have a lot of traffic and 
it has also been that way and he has been there 21 years. He said no one wants to help but the 
road is an issue and its factual that anyone can go there at any given time and see it today. He 
stated that you can see where the rock is, if you are going east towards Highway 87 the water 
runs down the road because it has been scraped flat over the years instead of having a hip in 
the middle and the water runs off the left side towards 87 and it is eroded into the road now. 
Mr. Vaughn said he does not know probably that far into the road now and it has taken all the 
rock and gone either underneath the pipe or through the pipe and it is on the right side. Mr. 
Vaughn states that if you put more people and you put more vehicles what is going to happen 
it is just going to increase and that is the issue with the road. Mr. Vaughn said but they have 
tried and they have sent stuff out and they have had it priced and nobody wanted to help. Mr. 
Holt said there was no participation, Mr. Vaughn confirmed that and that they were going to 
do the road all the way to the cul-de-sac. Mr. Vaughn stated he believes a gentleman named 
Francis lives at the cul-de-sac and that is about as far as they priced it and he also said that it 
is about another ¾ of a mile back and they take a bobcat and do their stuff because a lot of 



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

horse trailers come in and out. Mr. Vaughn said that the front half is bad and he is glad there 
 snow because the road would sink up by 87. Mr. Vaughn said he knows for a fact 

that Mrs. Huneycutt and her husband asked for help the other year and they put either $800 
or $900 worth of rocks which is about two and a half truckloads. He said that traffic is an 
issue out there, he states they have big trucks, and have people in the back that bring heavy 
equipment in and if it gets approved by the county, they cannot do anything about it. Mr. 
Vaughn also mentions that they even asked the state to pave over it and sign a petition but the 
state take it over. He said they are a tight-knit community and that is all he has to 
address over the road. Mr. Holt thanked Mr. Vaughn and said the information had been 
helpful.  

Mr. Holt mentions that private roads that have upwards of 20 parcels far exceed what the 
criteria are for private roads even though the state allows for 10-plus acres to be exempt that 
does not mean there is no traffic.  

Mr. King asked how many lots total pieces of property on the road that are served directly by 
the road. Mr. Holt answers there are 19 lots. Mr. King asked how many are greater than 10 
acres. Mr. Hoagland said there are six greater than 10 acres and from staff calculations, there 
are 13 applicable lots. Mr. King asked when he said applicable lots does he mean less than 10 
acres? Mr. Hoagland said yes.  

Mr. Owens said that there are a lot of lots and that he drove to the end of the road and there 
were some rather large holes and he noticed that there was a 5-acre lot and it looks like 
someone already put two houses on that one. He states that he assumes they can do that 
without splitting the property. Mr. King stated that either way, you can get additional homes 
because there is no prohibition on how many homes can be on an individual lot. 

Mr. King asked Mr. Shannon if back in 2022 was there an interpretation that the former 
planning director had made regarding the right of way and when you can count it or when 

. Mr. Shannon said that nothing particular came to mind. Mr. Hoagland said he can 
only speculate that after reading the old emails it is accurate to say the  were 
given wrong advice about the interpretation as to whether or not the right of way can be 
classified as part of the total acreage, but they were also given conflicting advice. In 
particular, he said, the email from Tonya said to make sure all the lots are one acre since they 
are on a private road. Mr. King asked if he was referring to the email where she said to make 
sure all the lots were one acre? Mr. Hoagland confirmed, yes. He the read from the email 
dated May 23, 2022 at 3:46 p.m.: 

 

Mr. Hoagland clarified he was not heaping judgment on former staff since most of the work 
 

Item 6 in Subsection E 
of the regarding private roads 



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

shall be approved when the following conditions are met: The tract to be subdivided has at 
least a minimum sixty fee of road frontage on the road; an original tract of land adjoining a 
nonconforming private road may be divided utilizing this provision only once every two 
years; the private road disclose statement as provided in Appendix K shall be recorded, and 

  

Mr. Hoagland said perhaps previous staff looked at this as a nonconforming private road it 
might be deemed achievable and they would have given that feedback to the surveyor. 
However, Mr. Hoagland said his interpretation leads him to believe that where it says 

then it must exclude counting right-of-
way areas from the one acre minimum. Mr. King stated that he thinks the section makes it 
clear that the right of way is not included in the total acreage. Mr. King said the ordinance is 
put online and that someone else could have consulted over it to double-check. 

Mr. Holt noted that there was a discussion on how Boswell Surveying in the emails did 
question twice about the private road acreage. Mr. Owens said based on the fact that the 
surveyors asked twice, perhaps they were seeing if they could slide something by staff even 
though it may not have been totally in line with the rules. Mr. Holt added that county had 
some responsibility from 2022 in their answers to Boswell Surveying.   

Mr. Holt asked if anyone else on the board had any questions for the Rodriguez  and the 
staff before they went into their deliberations. He also asked if Mr. Rodriguez had anything 
further to add or any other questions.  

Mr. Rodriguez has questions on conflict of interest and asked what is a conflict of interest. 
Mr. Holt responded that, for example, if they were related by family then that may be a 
conflict or if they had a financial interest in the outcome of the case. Mr. Rodriguez asked if a 
personal friend counts and asked what is Mr. Owens's relationship with Mr. Vaughn and if 
there are any personal friendships there. Mr. Rodriguez states that he does not understand 
how Mr. Owens went to the property and that someone must have talked to him. Mr. Holt 
explained the board has the right and are somewhat encouraged to go out and see the 
property. Rather than simply view the issue on paper, Mr. Owens had the right to go and 
drive in and have a look to help him make a better decision. Mr. Holt explained further how 
he also looked on the GIS to show his house due to the limited information in the packets to 
see about the number of houses on the road and the condition of it, for example.  

Mr. Holt also said that one of the hurdles that Mr. Rodriguez faces is variance criteria 
number four about the safety issue and that he had mentioned earlier that private road 
historically can have problems with EMTs, and fire equipment and those are some of the 
things that the board has to take into consideration. 

Mr. Rodriguez states that what Mr. Vaughn said is not true that the road is not in bad 
condition and that anyone can go down the road. He said that another developer had built a 
lot in the back and recently fixed the road to get the parcel subdivided a couple of months 



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

ago before Mr. Rodriguez put in his application for his subdivision. Mr. Holt replied that is 
the reason why he asked Mr. Rodriguez earlier if he had a formal road maintenance 
agreement that he might have been aware of. The witness said there has been an effort to 
keep up the maintenance of the road and that the L. Lawrence Trail is not unique to have 
maintenance problems and is also a hurdle to get NCDOT to take a road over 
really something they need to address here.  

Mr. Holt asks if there are any other questions. Mr. Rodriguez reiterates that he does not have 
a picture of the road but there is no problem with it. Mr. Holt said that is in Mr. Rodriguez's 
opinion. Mr. Rodriguez said not only in his opinion but also in the planning department's 
opinion to allow the developer to subdivide land and improve the road. He does not think in a 
few months the road will be unsafe. 

Mr. Holt asked from his personal perspective what is going to happen in the future with the 
road? Mr. Holt again brought up the road maintenance agreement already in place since 1995 
or 1996 which has not been upheld. He also mentioned again that there is a board member 
who went out and looked at the road himself.  

Mr. Rodriguez asked what can he do or what is the process if there was a conflict of interest 
on the board. 

Mr. Holt said he thinks it would be a 
legal process and they might need to hire an attorney and say that he thinks he was mistreated 
and would have to appeal it to a superior court. The person could then be subpoenaed to 
testify. 
anything that creates a conflict of interest.  

Mr. Holt asked the attorney for advice regarding any conflict of interest and if the next step 
on that would be superior court. The next step would be to go to the superior court and the 
person could be subpoenaed to court and would have to testify if they had any conflict. Mr. 
Stevens said that being this far into the proceeding that is correct, they should allow for the 
proceeding to continue and that would serve as the basis. 

Mr. Holt told Mr. Rodriguez that if he feels that someone does have a potential conflict, and 

Rodriguez said he understands.  

Mr. Holt asked Mr. Rodriguez if they had any other questions. Mr. Rodriguez asked if they 
could clarify the definition of a hardship. Mr. Holt and Mr. King try to give examples and 
definitions of what a hardship would be.  

Mr. Rodriguez said since his lot is 2.04 acres and not including the road, he said 
is unique which is the size of the lot and right of way. 



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

Mr. Owens said to Mr. Rodriguez that his property is not unique and that there are similar 
lots on the subdivision and the same size. Other neighboring lots have the same issues and 
hardships that his property has which makes it not a unique situation. Mr. Owens said that 
they have to follow the letter of the law and unfortunately his lot is not different. Mr. Owens 
said perhaps if it was the only lot along the road like this then maybe it would be a unique 

Mr. Rodriguez asked to see what lot Mr. Owens is speaking about.  

Planning staff pulls up the lot that Mr. Owens is speaking about. Mr. Owens stated that 

only lot in the subdivisions with these issues he would have a standing argument but he does 
not. Everyone has a road going through their lots. 

Mr. King said that he thinks they have gotten into weeds on the road itself which is not the 
subject, it is the right of way being included in the lot area. 

Mr. Owens states that to let Mr. Vaughn speak was part of the law and the two people did 
have standing and are trying to go by the rules in case it is appealed because they might go to 
the court and state that they have a standing issue.  

Mr. Rodriguez states that the Environmental Health Department has already given him a 
permit to allow him to put a second home on the property even if the Planning Department 
does not allow him to subdivide the land. Mr. Hoagland shook his head no and Mr. Holt said 
that he understood there was also an issue with the bank. Ian spoke about how there was an 
old subdivision where the road was improved back in 2022. At the time, it was required for 
the developer to improve the road up to the cul-de-sac and it would have been inspected by 
the deputy fire marshal at the time.  

Mr. Hoagland said he would like to add that there are innumerable aspects of a subdivisions 
that they review prior to final approval. He mentioned road conditions, proper certificates, 
plat layout, size of lots, setbacks, easements, and similar issues and those are separate from 
the two specific variance criteria that were being discussed now.  

Mr. Rodriguez states that he is allowed to put a home in the back of the property without it 
being subdivided so the traffic is going to be the same amount of traffic if it was not 
subdivided. He states he already has a permit from environmental health that he can put a 
home in the back. Mr. Holt explains that he does understand that it is a banking issue. 

Mr. Holt moves on to the deliberation, and stated that he saw issues with variance criteria 
number 4, which means a lot to him. He brought up how Mr. Owens has already commented 
about how he went out and saw the road conditions. Mr. Holt paraphrases and reads out that 
the requested variance is consistent with the spirit purpose and in regulation such that public 
safety is secured. Mr. Holt states that he personally thinks there is a safety issue. 



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

Tom King said that his thoughts on it is to consider what is the purpose which is the one-acre 
minimum lot size on the private road and two why the area in the right of way matters. Mr. 
King stated that it is common in subdivision regulations and zoning regulations to not count 
the right of way in the minimum lot size. 

Mr. Holt said another issue that has some bearing with him is that Mr. Rodriguez was given 
bad information in 2022 and since that time he  has spent money and time 
based on the information that he was told that it could be subdivided.  

Mr. Rodriguez asked if he could make a comment but Mr. Holt denied it.  

Mr. Holt said their job is to weigh the evidence and hopefully come up with something that is 
reasonable. Mr. Holt went on to speak about how it was a big factor to ask staff, with a 
surveyor or not, and be given information that is not correct and then proceed based on the 
information he thinks it is a hardship after giving that the people that had the authority, for 
lack of a better term, have changed their mind. Mr. Holt said 
bad information given then by county staff it would be cut and dry and that it should be a 
factor to be considered. Mr. Holt says that should be given consideration because Mr. 
Rodriguez has commenced with work and spent money based on bad information.  

Mr. King confirmed that Mr. Holt is referring to variance criteria number three which said 
the hardship is not in the result in actions taken by the applicant. Mr. Holt agreed.  

Mr. Holt asked Mr. Cobb for his thoughts. Mr. Cobb asked Mr. Shannon about the emails 
from 2022 and if there was an understanding implied by the emails that the Rodriguez could 
move forward. Mr. Shannon said that is a fair assessment since that is what the surveyor was 
told, essentially. Mr. Cobb said 
looking to him is that if county authorities made the statement, in any fashion, that they could 
move forward and then once they start the process they are stopped. He thinks they were 
misleading from the beginning. Mr. Holt agreed and said there were certainly mistakes.  

Mr. Holt asked for Mrs. 
situation. She asked about the road not being built up enough for an ambulance to get in 
there.  

Mr. Owens states that the road is not that bad but it is not kept up. Mr. Cobb asked when he 
went down the road Mr. Owen states he went down two days ago and that the further down 
he went the worse it got. Mr. Cobb also stated he has been to the road in the past and the road 
was not in the best condition. They discuss what sections of the road are the worst and what 
the condition of the road is. 

Mr. Holt asked Mr. Owens for his thoughts he said that he agreed and does think they have 
unintended hardship that they did not put on themselves. 
essentially gave them bad advice a few years ago. He mentioned, however, that on variance 



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

criteria number four he does not think there is a safety issue he only has a problem with the 
first two hardships. 

Mr. King wants to go back to number four and said there are several large pieces of property 
on this road that are non-conforming and now it is a Class II. Mr. Shannon clarified that it 
would have been around August or September of 2022 when three or four lots were created 
on L. Lawrence and two off of John Lawson were approved around August. After the 
fifteenth lot the road has to be brought up to public standards right now there are only 
thirteen applicable lots. 

Mr. Hoagland said he felt he needed to say something. He said he understands that the road is 
an issue but road requirements and requiring subdividers to become parties to a road 
maintenance agreement is also part of the staff review process when they review preliminary 
plats. He continued, saying that even if it is not mentioned in the emails or immediately 
evident, it does not indicate that it is not part of their process for giving final approval. The 
two issues that hung up the process were the minimum lot size and the right of way which are 
simply the two specific criteria for the asking of this variance.  

Mr. King 
Hoagland said 

road maintenance agreement for the road and that one 

that maintenance agreement. The issue here is that t
process because the other issues came up which necessitated the variance request.  

Mr. Owens reverted back to the issues of deed restrictions not allowing future subdivisions. 
Mr. Hoagland  if there 
was an existing lot created years before that particular requirement became part of the 
subdivision ordinance, even if it was created and that rule should have attached to it and 
attached to the deed  require them to adhere to the rule. 
However, he said, they can ensure that for any future lots that come their way they can 
ensure that the rule is in place before final approval. Mr. Owens asked then if that 

 

Mr. Cobb asked when the lot was originally subdivided. Mr. Shannon said the four lots were 
in 1995 but is not sure about the other lots. The road was a non-conforming private road 
before it was upgraded in place before 1974. Mr. Cobb asked the county attorney if the deed 
restrictions and covenants have to be renewed after 25 years or then they expire, Mr. Stevens 
said yes. Mr. Cobb then said that if they have not renewed them, they have expired.  

There was some brief minor discussion about the nature of maintenance agreements then 
Chairman Holt asked for any further discussion before they get into each of the variance 
criteria.  



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

Mr. Hoagland mentioned that each of them have a worksheet that Mr. King put together and 
gave out to help the board find a verdict. Mr. Holt said he appreciated the worksheets and 
Mr. Hoagland offered to read any of the variance criteria or general statutes as they vote. 

Mr. Holt clarified that mentions are not needed on each item; they can vote on them at the 
end if desired. He then read criteria one and asked if there was a motion.  

 
(1) Unnecessary hardship would result from the strict application of the regulation. It 

is not necessary to demonstrate that, in the absence of the variance, no reasonable use can 
be made of the property.  

 
Board Member Tom King made a motion concluding that an unnecessary hardship 

would not result in the strict application of the regulation. Mr. King stated that there has been 
 be 

suffered by other residents on the road if they wanted to subdivide. He stated that they are in 
a similar situation and there are lots of a similar size. Board Member Michael Owens 
seconded the motion. Chairman Isaac Holt clarified that this motion is to find that the 
unnecessary hardship will not result from a strict application of the regulations because there 

property.  
 
The vote to deny the variance on these grounds was unanimous.  
 
(2) The hardship results from conditions that are peculiar to the property, such as 

location, size, or topography. Hardships resulting from personal circumstances, as well as 
hardships resulting from conditions that are common to the neighborhood or the general 
public, may not be the basis for granting a variance. A variance may be granted when 
necessary and appropriate to make a reasonable accommodation under the Federal Fair 
Housing Act for a person with a disability. 

 
Board Member Ray Cobb made a motion that the variance does not meet this criterion. 

Mr. Cobb reference what Mr. King said earlier about other properties along the road that 
 referring 

mentioned that there was no evidence presented to show any physical hardship with the 
property, it just happens to be a situation where there's not enough land area to meet the 



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

 
 
The vote to deny the variance on these grounds was unanimous.  
 
(3) The hardship did not result from actions taken by the applicant or the property 

owner. The act of purchasing property with knowledge that circumstances exist that may 
justify the granting of a variance is not a self-created hardship. 

 

actions. This motion was seconded by Mr. Cobb. Chairman Holt clarified that there is a 
motion and second that the hardship did not result from actions taken by the applicant or the 
property owner. Mr. King added a finding of fact that the applicants did pursue this 
subdivision based on erroneous information provided by former Planning Department staff. 
Mr. King said they were told that the area within right of way would count towards the one-
acre minimum lot size on two separate occasions in 2022. 

 
The vote to approve the variance based on these grounds was unanimous.  
 
(4) The requested variance is consistent with the spirit, purpose, and intent of the 

regulation, such that public safety is secured and substantial justice is achieved. 
 
Mr. Owens made a motion to approve the variance based on this criterion. Board 

Member Debra Hyder seconded the motion. Mr. Owens went on to state that he has been on 
the road and that the road is safe to travel. Mrs. Hyder indicated that there were no safety 
issues present based on the previous discussion regarding the road.  

 
The vote to approve the variance on these grounds was unanimous. 
 
Chairman Holt informed the board that they should take one final vote. He would like 

 
 
Mr. King made a motion to deny the variance on the basis of findings of fact in 

numbers one and two. Mr. Owens seconded the motion. Chairman Holt clarified that there is 
a motion and a second to deny the variance on the basis of findings of fact in numbers one 
and two. 

 



 
 

ALAMANCE COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES 

 

Planning Director: 
Matthew Hoagland 

Board Chair:          
Isaac Holt 

County Office Annex Meeting Room       
201 W Elm Street                        

Graham, NC 27253 
March 21, 2024 at 5:30 PM 

 

The vote to deny the variance request based on these findings of fact was 
unanimous.  

Mr. Holt explains that the board has found that the application does not meet the criteria to 
issue a variance. Should Mr. Rodriguez wish to not accept what the board has said they can 
appeal to Alamance County Superior Court. Mr. Holt explains they had to find their finding 
based on facts and not personal deals. 

Mr. King said that the next step is that staff will need to write up a final decision document, it 
will be reviewed and approved by the board. Once that is approved, the chair will sign it and 
it will be delivered to the  After that they will be able to file an appeal with 
superior court if they wish to. Mr. King explained that the appeal will be a review of the 

operate correctly or had a conflict of interest then the court would review that record and 
make a decision. If they believe the board made any errors then they could remand this case 
back to this board to rehear it or they could even overrule the board and grant the variance.  
He informed Mr. Rodriguez that once he received that written decision then he would have 
30 days if they would like to appeal to Alamance County Superior Court.  

IV. ANNOUNCEMENTS/DISCUSSION 

Mr. Holt asked if there was anything else. Mr. Hoagland thanked Mr. King for explaining 
that process to the Rodriguez family. Mr. Holt then asked if there was a motion to adjourn.  

 
V. ADJOURNMENT 

 
Motion to adjourn: Ray Cobb 
Second: Debra Hyder 
Vote: Unanimous 

Adjourned at 7:22 PM. 

 

  



Alamance County
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

201 W. Elm Street  
Graham, North Carolina, 27253 

Tel. (336) 570-4053 
 

              
       

2025 Board of Adjustment Calendar 
 

All meetings begin at 5:30 PM. 
 

Meeting location: 
Commissioners  Meeting Room 

124 W. Elm Street, 2nd Floor 
Graham, NC 27253 

 
 

Meeting Date Agenda Item     
Submittal Deadline 

February 20,2025 1/21/2025 
March 20, 2025 2/19/2025 
April 17, 2025 3/19/2025 
May 15, 2025 4/17/2025 
June 19, 2025 5/21/2025 
July 17, 2025 6/17/2025 

August 21, 2025 7/23/2025 
September 18, 2025 8/19/2025 

October 16, 2025 9/17/2025 
November 20, 2025 10/21/2025 
December 18, 2025 11/18/2025 

January 15, 2026 12/16/2025 
 

Agenda mail-out/posting date may vary based on general statutes and agenda items.  
Meetings may be cancelled due to a lack of agenda items.  

 
Adopted: 




















